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“A FASCINATING WORK.”
—Los Angeles Times

“With brilliance and discernment, Daniel Keyes adds to
the popular literature about multiple personality. As a
chilling kaleidoscope of horrifying events, The Minds of
Billy Milligan is a shocker that will rivet even the casual
reader to the page. As a psychological and sociological
document, the book is a milestone. I congratulate Daniel
Keyes.”
—TFlora Rheta Schreiber,
author of Sybil

“HARROWING, COMPELLING. It has the force and
conviction of truth.”
—Village Voice Literary Supplement

“Mr. Keyes, who spent two years with Billy Milligan and

interviewed his family, friends and acquaintances, as

well as some of those in the medical profession who have

tried to comprehend him, tells this complicated story

well. . . . This book will attract a substantial readership.”
—The New York Times Book Review

Daniel Keyes “has carried it off brilliantly, bringing to
the assignment not only a fine clarity but a special
warmth, and empathy for the victim of circumstances
and mental failings that made Flowers for Algernon one
of the most memorable novels of the 1960s.”

—The Washington Post Book World
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PREFACE

This book is the factual account of the life, up to now, of
William Stanley Mllhgan the first person in U.S. history to be
found not guilty of major crimes, by reason of msamty, because
he possessed multiple personahtxes

Unlike other multiple personalities in psychiatric and popu-
lar literature who were kept anonymous at the outset by the
use of fictional names, Milligan became a controversial public
figure from the moment he was arrested and indicted. His face
appeared on the front pages of newspapers and on the covers of
magazines. Results of his mental examinations made evening
television news programs and newspaper headlines around the
world. He is also the first multiple personality patient to have
been carefully examined around the clock as an inpatient in a
hospital setting, with findings of multiplicity attested to in
sworn testimony by four psychiatrists and a psychologist.

I first met the twenty-three-year-old man at the Athens
Mental Health Center in Athens, Ohio, shortly after he had
been sent there by the courts. When he asked me to write his
story, I told him it would depend on whether or not there was
more to it than had been reported extensively in the media.
He assured me that the deeper secrets of his inner people had
never been revealed to anyone, including his attorneys and the
psychiatrists who had examined him. Now he wanted the
world to understand his mental illness. T was skeptical but
interested.

Several days after I met him, my curiosity was further
aroused by the last paragraph of a Newsweek article entitled
“The Ten Faces of Billy”:

There remain, however, unanswered questions: How did Milli-

gan learn the Houdini-like escape skill demonstrated by Tommy

[one of his personalities]? What about his conversations with his
vii



viii PREFACE

rape victims in which he claimed to be a “guerrilla” and a “hit
man”? Doctors think that Milligan may have personalities yet
unfathomed—and that some of them may have committed un-
discovered crimes.

When I talked with him alone during visiting hours in his
room at the mental hospital, I discovered that Billy, as he came
to be called, was very different from the poised young man I'd
first met. He now spoke hesitantly, his knees jiggling ner-
vously. His memory was poor, with long periods blanked out
by amnesia. He could generalize about those portions of his
past that he vaguely recalled, his voice often quavering at
painful memories, but he could not provide many details.
After trying, vainly, to draw out his experiences, I was ready to
give it up.

Then one day something startling happened.

Billy Milligan fused completely for the first time, revealing a
new individual, an amalgam of all his personalities. The fused
Milligan had a clear, almost total recall of all the personalities
from their creation—all their thoughts, actions, relationships,
tragic experiences and comic adventures.

I mention this at the outset so that the reader will under-
stand how I was able to record Milligan’s past events, private
feelings and solitary conversations. All the material in this
book was given to me by the fused Milligan, his other person-
alities and sixty-two people whose paths crossed his at different
stages in his life. Scenes and dialogue are re-created from
Milligan’s recollections. Therapy sessions are taken directly
from videotapes. I have invented nothing.

One serious problem we faced as I began to write was
developing a chronology. Because Milligan had “lost time”
frequently since early childhood, he rarely paid attention to
clocks or calendars and was often too embarrassed to admit not
knowing the day or month. I was able, finally, to arrange
events in time by using bills, receipts, insurance reports,
school records, employment records and the many other docu-
ments turned over to me by his mother, sister, employers,
attorneys and physicians. Though Milligan rarely dated his
correspondence, his former girl friend had kept the hundreds
of letters he wrote to her during his two years in prison, and I
was able to date them by the postmarks on the envelopes.
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As we worked, Milligan and I agreed on two basic ground
rules:

First, all people, places and institutions would be identified
by their real names, except for three groups of individuals
whose privacy had to be protected by pseudonyms: other
mental patients; unindicted criminals with whom Milligan had
been involved, both as a juvenile and as an adult, and whom I
was not able to interview directly; and the three Ohio State
University rape victims, including the two who agreed to be
interviewed by me.

Second, to assure Milligan that he would not incriminate
himself in the event some of his personalities revealed crimes
for which he might still be indicted, we agreed that I would
use “poetic license” in dramatizing these scenes. On the other
hand, those crimes for which Milligan has already stood trial
are reported in hitherto unrevealed detail.

Of those who have met, worked with or been victimized by
Billy Milligan, most have come to accept the diagnosis of his
having multiple personalities. Many of these people remem-
bered the thing Milligan said or did that made them finally
admit, “He just can’t be faking this.” Others still feel he is a
fraud, a brilliant con man using the plea of not guilty by reason
of insanity to avoid prison. I sought out as many people in both
groups as would talk to me. They gave me their reactions and
their reasons.

I, too, maintained an attitude of skepticism. Hardly a day
went by when I wasn’t pulled one way and then the other. But
during the two years I worked with Milligan on this book, the
doubt I felt when his recalled acts and experiences seemed
incredible turned to belief when my investigation showed
them to be accurate.

That the controversy still absorbs Ohio newspapers can be
seen from an article in the Dayton Daily News of January 2,
1981—three years and two months after the last crimes were
committed:

FAKE OR VicTiM? EITHER Way,
MILLIGAN CASE ILLUMINATING
by Joe Fenley

William Stanley Milligan is a troubled man living a troubled
existence.
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He is either a con man who has duped society and beaten the
rap for violent crimes or he is an authentic victim of a multiple
personality disorder. Either way it's a bad scene . . .

Only time will tell whether Milligan has played the world for
a fool or is one of its saddest victims . . .

Perhaps the time is now.

D.X.
Athens, Ohio
January 3, 1981



THE PEOPLE INSIDE

The Ten

The only ones known to psychiatrists, attorneys, police and the
media at the time of the trial.

1. William Stanley Milligan (“Billy”), 26. The original, or core,
personality, later referred to as “the unfused Billy,” or “Billy-
U.” High school dropout. Six feet tall, 190 pounds. Blue eyes,
brown hair.

2. Arthur, 22. The Englishman. Rational, emotionless, he
speaks with a British accent. Self-taught in physics and chem-
istry, he studies medical books. Reads and writes fluent Ara-
bic. Though he is staunchly conservative and considers himself
a capitalist, he is an avowed atheist. The first to discover the
existence of all the others, he dominates in safe places, decid-
ing who in the “family” will come out and hold the conscious-
ness. Wears glasses.

3. Ragen Vadascovinich, 23. The keeper of hate. His name is
derived from “rage-again.” Yugoslavian, he speaks English
with a noticeable Slavic accent, and reads, writes and speaks
Serbo-Croatian. A weapons and munitions authority as well as
a karate expert, he displays extraordinary strength, stemming
from the ability to control his adrenaline flow. He is a commu-
nist and atheist. His charge is to be the protector of the family,
and of women and children in general. He dominates the
consciousness in dangerous places. Has associated with crimi-
nals and drug addicts, and admits to criminal, sometimes
violent behavior. Weighs 210 pounds, has enormous arms,
black hair and a long, drooping mustache. He sketches in black
and white because he is color-blind.

4. Allen, 18. The con man. A manipulator, he is the one who
most often deals with outsiders. He is an agnostic, and his

X1



xii THE PEOPLE INSIDE

attitude is, “Make the best of life on earth.” He plays the
drums, paints portraits and is the only one of the personalities
who smokes cigarettes. Has a close relationship with Billy’s
mother. Same height as William, though he weighs less (165).
Hair parted on right, he is the only one who is right-handed.

5. Tommy, 16. The escape artist. Often mistaken for Allen, he
is generally belligerent and antisocial. Plays the saxophone and
is an electronics specialist and a painter of landscapes. Muddy-
blond hair and amber-brown eyes.

6. Danny, 14. The frightened one. Afraid of people, especially
men. He was forced to dig his own grave and was then buried
alive. Thus he paints only still lifes. Shoulder-length blond
hair, blue eyes, short and slender.

7. David, 8. The keeper of pain, or the empath. Absorbs all
the hurt and suffering of the other personalities. Highly sensi-
tive and perceptive, but has a short attention span. Confused
most of the time. Dark reddish-brown hair, blue eyes, physi-
cally small.

8. Christene, 3. The corner child, so called because she was
the one to stand in the corner in school. A bright little English
girl, she can read and print, but has dyslexia. Likes to draw
and color pictures of flowers and butterflies. Blond shoulder-
length hair, blue eyes.

9. Christopher, 13. Christene’s brother. Speaks with a British
accent. Obedient but troubled. Plays the harmonica. Hair
brownish-blond like Christene’s, but his bangs are shorter.

10. Adalana, 19. The lesbian. Shy, lonely and introverted, she
writes poetry, cooks and keeps house for the others. Adalana
has long, stringy black hair, and since her brown eyes occasion-
ally drift from side to side with nystagmus, she is said to have
“dancing eyes.”

The Undesirables
Suppressed by Arthur because they possessed undesirable
traits. Revealed, for the first time, at the Athens Mental
Health Center to Dr. David Caul.
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11. Philip, 20. The thug. New Yorker, has a strong Brooklyn
accent, uses vulgar language. References to “Phil” gave police
and media the clue that there were more personalities than the
ten known ones. Has committed minor crimes. Curly brown
hair, hazel eyes, beak nose.

12. Kevin, 20. The planner. A small-time criminal, he planned
the Gray Drug Store robbery. Likes to write. Blond hair, green
eyes.

13. Walter, 22. The Australian. Fancies himself a big-game
hunter. Has an excellent sense of direction and is often used as
a “spotter.” Suppressed emotions. Eccentric. Has a mustache.

14. April, 19. The bitch. Boston accent. She is filled with
thoughts and plans of diabolical revenge against Billy’s step-
father. The others say she is insane. Does the sewing and helps
with the housekeeping. Black hair, brown eyes.

15. Samuel, 18. The wandering Jew. Orthodox in his religion,
he is the only one who believes in God. Sculptor and wood-
carver. Black curly hair and beard, brown eyes.

16. Mark, 16. The workhorse. No initiative. Does nothing
unless he’s told by the others. Takes care of monotonous labor.
If there is nothing to do, he will stare at the wall. Sometimes
referred to as “the zombie.”

17. Steve, 21. The perpetual impostor. Laughs at people as he
imitates them. An egomaniac, he is the only one of the inner
selves who has never accepted the diagnosis of multiple per-
so}r}xality. His mocking imitations often cause trouble for the
others.

18. Lee, 20. The comedian. Prankster, clown, wit, his practical
jokes get the others into fights, and causes them to be thrown
into solitary confinement in prison. Doesn'’t care about life or
“ the consequences of his actions. Dark-brown hair, hazel eyes.

19. Jason, 13. The pressure valve. With his hysterial reactions
and temper tantrums, which often result in punishment, he
releases the built-up pressures. Carries off bad memories so
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the others can forget them, causing amnesia. Brown hair,
brown eyes.

20. Robert (Bobby), 17. The daydreamer. Constantly fanta-
sizes of travel and adventure. Though he dreams of making the
world a better place, he has no ambition or intellectual inter-
ests.

21. Shawn, 4. The deaf one. Short attention span and is often
assumed to be retarded. Makes buzzing sounds to feel the
vibrations in his head.

22. Martin, 19. The snob. A New Yorker and flashy show-off.
Boasts and puts on airs. Wants things without earning them.
Blond hair, gray eyes.

23. Timothy (Timmy), 15. Worked in a florist shop, where he
had an encounter with a homosexual who made advances that
frightened him. Went into his own world.

The Teacher
24. The Teacher, 26. The sum of all twenty-three alter egos
fused into one. Taught the others everything they've learned.
Brilliant, sensitive, with a fine sense of humor. He says, “I am
Billy all in one piece,” and refers to the others as “the androids
I made.” The Teacher has almost total recall, and his emer-
gence and cooperation made this book p0551ble
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CHAPTER
ONE

(1)

On Saturday, October 22, 1977, University Police Chief John
Kleberg placed the area of Ohio State University’s medical
school under heavy police security. Armed officers patrolled
the campus in cruisers and on foot, and armed observers
watched from rooftops. Women were warned not to walk
alone, and to be cautious of men when entering their cars.

For the second time in eight days, a young woman had been
kidnap ed from the campus, at gunpoint, between seven and

t o'clock in the morning. The first was a twenty-five-year-

optometry student, the second a twenty-four-year-old
nurse Each ri:ad been driven into the countryside, raped,
made to cash checks and then robbed.

The newspapers published police photographic composites,
and the public responded with hundreds of phone calls, names
and descriptions—all worthless. There were no significant
leads and no suspects. Tension in the university community
mounted. Pressure on Chief Kleberg grew more intense as
student organizations and community groups demanded the
capture of the man Ohio newspapers and TV broadcasters had
begun to refer to as “the Campus Rapist.”

Kleberg put Eliot Boxerbaum, the young investigations su-

ervisor, in charge of the manhunt. A self-styled liberal, Boxer-
Eaum had become involved in police work while attending
OSU following the student disturbances that closed the cam-
pus down in 1970. After his graduation that year, he was
offered a job in the university police department if he would
cut his long hair and shave off his mustache. He cut his hair,
but he balked at shaving his mustache. They hired h1m any-
way.

3



4 THE MINDS OF BILLY MILLIGAN

As Boxerbaum and Kleberg examined the photographic
composites and the data provided by the two victims, every-
thing seemed to point to a single assailant: a white American
male, between twenty-three and twenty-seven, weighing be-
tween 175 and 185 pounds, with brown or reddish-brown hair.
Both times the man had worn a brown jogging top, jeans and
white sneakers.

Carrie Dryer, the first victim, remembered that the rapist
wore gloves and carried a small revolver. Occasionally his eyes
drifted from side to side—the symptom of an eye condition she
recognized as nystagmus. He had handcuffed her to the inside
door of her car and drove her to a desolate country area, where
he raped her. After the rape he told her, “If you go to the
police, don’t give them my description. If I see anything in the
newspaper, I'll send someone after you.” As if to prove he
meant business, he took names from her address book.

Donna West, a short, plump nurse, said her assailant carried
an automatic pistol. There was something on his hands—not
dirt or grease, but an oily stain of some kind. At one point he
had said his name was Phil. He cursed a lot. He wore brown-
tinted sunglasses, and she never saw his eyes. He took the
names of relatives and warned her that if she identified him,
she or someone in her family would be harmed by a “brother-
hood” that would carry out his threats. She, and the police,
assumed he was boasting about being part of a terrorist organi-
zation or the Mafia.

Kleberg and Boxerbaum were confused by only one signifi-
cant difference in the two descriptions. The first man was
described as having a full, neatly trimmed mustache. The
second was described as having a three-day growth of beard
but no mustache.

Boxerbaum smiled. “I guess between the first time and the
second he shaved it off.”

At the Central Police Station in downtown Columbus, Detec-
tive Nikki Miller, assigned to the Sexual Assault Squad,
checked in for the second shift at three o’clock. Wednesday,
October 26. She had just returned from a two-week vacation in
Las Vegas, feeling and looking refreshed, her tan complement-
ing her brown eyes and feathercut sandy hair. Detective Gram-
lich of the first shift told her he was transporting a young rape
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victim to University Hospital. Since it would be Miller’s case,
Gramlich gave her the few details he had.
Polly Newton, a twenty-one-year-old student at Ohio State,
had been abducted behind her apartment near the university
us at about eight o’clock that moming. After she parked
her Eoyfriend’s blue Corvette, she was forced back inside and
told to drive out to an isolated area in the countryside, where
she was raped. Her assailant then made her drive back to
Columbus to cash two checks, before having her drive him
back to the campus area. Then he suggested that she cash
another check, stop payment, and keep the money herself.

Because Nikki Mllf) er had been on vacation, she hadn’t read
of the university Campus Rapist or seen the composites. De-
tectives on the first shift filled her in on the details.

“The facts of this case,” Miller noted in her report, “are
similar to those of two rape/abductions . . . being handled by
(tihe Ohio State University Police, that occurred in their juris-

iction.”

Nikki Miller and her partner, Officer A. J. Bessell, drove to
University Hospital to interview Polly Newton, an auburn-
haired girl.

The man who abducted her, Polly said, had told her that he
was a member of the Weathermen, but that he also had
another identity—as a businessman—and drove a Maserati.
After Polly was treated at the hospital, she agreed to accom-
pany Miller and Bessell to search for the place she’d been
forced to drive to. But it was getting dark and she was becom-
ing confused. She agreed to try again the following morning.

The Crime Scene Search Unit dusted her car for fin-
gerprints. They found three partial prints with sufficient ridge
detail to be used for comparison with any future suspects.

Miller and Bessell drove Polly back to the Detective Bureau
to work with the department artist at making a composite
drawing. Then Miller asked Polly to look through photographs
of white male sex offenders. She studied three trays of mug
shots, a hundred to a tray, with no success. At ten that eve-
ning, exhausted after seven hours with the police, she

stopped

At ten-fifteen the next morning, detectives of the Assault
Squad morning shift picked up Polly Newton and drove her to
Delaware County. In the daylight she was able to lead them to
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the scene of the rape, where they found 9-millimeter bullet
casings near the edge of the pond. That, she told one of the
detectives, was where the man had fired his gun at some beer
bottles he had tossed into the water.

When they returned to headquarters, Nikki Miller had just
arrived on duty. She sat Polly in a small room directly opposite
the receptionists desk and brought in another tray of mug
shots. She left Polly alone and shut the door.

A few minutes later, Eliot Boxerbaum arrived at the Detec-
tive Bureau with Donna West, the nurse who had been the
second victim. He wanted her to go through the mug shots,
too. He and Chief Kleberg had decided to keep the optometry
student in reserve for a line-up identification in case the mug-
shot evidence didn’t hold up in court.

Nikki Miller sat Donna West at a table in the corridor
alongside the filing cabinets and brought her three trays of
mug shots. “My God,” she said, “are there that many sex
offenders walking the streets?” Boxerbaum and Miller waited
nearby as Donna studied face after face. Looking angry and
frustrated, she flipped through the photographs. She saw a
face she recognized—not the man who'd raped her, but a
former classmate, someone she’d seen on the street just the
other day. She peeked at the back and saw he’d been arrested
fk(: indecent exposure. “Christ,” she mumbled, “you never

owW.

Halfway through the tray, Donna hesitated at a picture of a
handsome youth with muttonchop whiskers and dull, staring
eyes. She jumped up, nearly knocking the chair over. “That’s
him! That’s him! I'm positive!”

Miller had her sign her name on the back of the photograph,
then got the 1.D. number, checked it against the record and
wrote down, “William S. Milligan.” It was an old mug shot.

She then slipped the identified photograph three quarters of
the way back in a tray Polly Newton had not yet looked
through. She, Boxerbaum, a detective named Brush and Of-
ficer Bessell went into the room to join Polly.

Nikki Miller felt Polly must have known they were waiting
for her to pick out one of the photographs in that tray. Polly
fingered the cards, flipping them carefully, and when she
reached the halfway point, Miller found herself growing tense.
If Polly picked out the same mug shot, they had the Campus
Rapist.
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Polly stopped at Milligan’s picture, then went past it. Miller
felt the tension in her own shoulders and arms. Then Polly
turned the photos back and looked again at the young man
with the muttonchop whiskers. “Boy, that sure looks like him,”
she said, “but I can't say for sure.”

Boxerbaum was hesitant about filing for a warrant for Milli-
gan’s arrest. Even though Donna West had made a positive
identification, it bothered him that the picture was three years
old. He wanted to wait for the fingerprint check. Detective
Brush took Milligans I.D. down to the first-floor Bureau of
Criminal Identification to match his fingerprints against the
ones lifted from Polly’s car.

Nikki Miller was annoyed at the delay. She felt they had a
good start on the man, and she wanted to go after him. But
since her victim, Polly Newton, hadn’t made a positive identi-
fication, she had no alternative but to wait. Two hours later the
report came up. The print of the right index finger lifted from
the outside glass of the Corvette’s passenger door and the right
ring finger and right palm were Milligan’s. All fair-value prints.
A ten-point match. Enough to take to court.

Boxerbaum and Kleberg still hesitated. They wanted to be
absolutely sure before going after a suspect and asked that an
expert be called in to evaluate the prints.

Since Milligan’s prints matched those lifted from her victim’s
car, Nikki Miller decided to go ahead and file for kidnapping,
robbery and rape. She would get a warrant for his arrest, ﬁring
him in, and then Polly would be able to look at him in a line-

up.

Boxerbaum checked with his chief, Kleberg, who insisted
the university police should wait for the expert. Shouldn’t take
more than another hour or two. Better to be certain. It was
eight that evening when the outside expert agreed that the
prints were Milligan’s.

Boxerbaum said, “Okay, I'll file for kidnapping. That’s the
only crime actually committed on campus—our jurisdiction.
The rape happened somewhere else.” He checked out the
information that had come in from the Bureau of Criminal
Identification: William Stanley Milligan, a twenty-two-year-old
ex-convict, had been paroled six months earlier from Ohio’s
Lebanon Correctional Institution. His last-known address was
933 Spring Street, Lancaster, Ohio.
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Miller called for a SWAT team, and they assembled in the
Assault Squad office to plan the approach. They had to find out
how many people were in the apartment with Milligan. Two of
the rape victims had reported him saying he was a terrorist and
a hit man, and he had fired a gun in Polly’s presence. They had
to assume he was armed and dangerous.

Officer Craig of the SWAT team suggested a gimmick ap-
proach. He would use a dummy Domino’s pizza box, pretend-
ing someone from that address had ordered it, and when
Milligan opened the door, Craig would try to look inside. They
agreed to the plan. .

But ever since the address had come through, Boxerbaum
had been puzzled. Why would an ex-convict come forty-five
miles, all the way from Lancaster to Columbus, three times
within two weeks to commit rape? Something wasn’t right. As
they were about to leave, he picked up the phone, dialed 411
and asked if there was a new listing on a William Milligan. He
listened for a moment and then jotted down the address.

“He’s moved, to 5673 Old Livingston Avenue, in Reyn-
oldsburg,” Boxerbaum announced. “Ten minutes away by car.
On the east side. Now, that makes more sense.”

Everyone looked relieved.

At nine o’clock Boxerbaum, Kleberg, Miller, Bessell and four
officers from the Columbus SWAT team set out in three cars at
twenty miles an hour on the freeway, their headlights bounc-
ing back off the densest fog any of them had ever seen.

The SWAT team got there first. What should have been a
fifteen-minute drive had taken an hour, and then it took an-
other fifteen minutes to find the right address in the winding,
newly laid-out street of the Channingway apartment complex.
While they waited for the others to arrive, the SWAT officers
spoke to some of the neighbors. There were lights on in the
Milligan apartment.

When the detectives and university officers arrived, they all
took positions. Nikki Miller hid out of sight on the right-hand
side of the patio. Bessell went around the corner of the build-
ing. The remaining three SWAT officers took up positions on
the other side. Boxerbaum and Kleberg ran around back and
moved up to the double sliding glass doors.

Craig took the dummy Domino’s pizza box out of the trunk
of his car and scrawled on it, “Milligan—5673 Old Livingston,”
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with a black marking pen. He pulled his shirttail out of his
jeans to cover his revolver and walked casually to one of the
four doors facing the patio. He rang the bell. No answer. He
rang again and, hearing a noise inside, struck a bored pose,
one hand holding up the pizza box and the other on his hip
near his gun.

From his position behind the house, Boxerbaum saw a
young man sitting in a brown easy chair in front of a large color
TV set. To the left of the front door, he saw a red chair An L-
shaped living room/dining room. No one else in view. The TV
watcher got up from the chair and went to answer the front
doorbell.

When Craig rang the doorbell again, he saw someone peer
at him through the glass panel beside the door. The door
opened and a handsome young man stared at him.

“I got your pizza.”

“I didn’t order no pizza.”

Craig tried to look past him into the apartment and could
(siee Boxerbaum through the open drapes at the rear glass

oors.

“It’s the address I got. For William Milligan. That your
name?”

“No.”

“Somebody from here phoned the order,” Craig said. “Who
are you?”

“This is my friends apartment.”

“Where’s your friend?”

“He ain’t here right now.” He spoke in a dull, halting voice.

“Well, where is he? Somebody ordered this pizza. Bill Milli-
gan. This address.”

“I don’t know. The people next door know him. Maybe they
can tell ya, or maybe they ordered it.”

“Would you show me?”

The young man nodded, walked to the door a few steps
across from his own, knocked, and waited a few seconds and
knocked again. There was no answer.

Craig dropped the pizza box, pulled his gun and pressed it
into the back of the suspect’s head. “Freeze! I know youre
Milligan!” He snapped handcuffs on him.

The young man looked dazed. “What's this for? I didn’t do
nothing.”
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Craig jabbed the gun between his shoulder blades, pullin
Milgga’g’s long hair as if yanking on reins. “Let’s get bac
inside.

As Craig pushed him into the apartment, the other SWAT
officers stormed in around him, guns leveled. Boxerbaum and
Kleberg came around front to join them.

Nikki Miller had the I.D. picture out, showing a mole on
Milligan’s neck. “He’s got the mole. Same face. Its him.”

They put Milligan in the red chair, and she noticed he stared
straight ahead with a dazed, trancelike expression. Sergeant
Dempsey bent and looked under the chair. “Here’s the gun,”
he said, sliding it out with a pencil. “Nine-millimeter mag-
num. Smith and Wesson.” j

A SWAT officer turned over the seat of the brown chair in
front of the TV set and started to pick up a bullet clip and a
plastic bag with ammunition, but Dempsey stopped him.
‘Hold it. We've got an arrest warrant, not a search warrant.”
He turned to Milligan. “You want to let us go ahead and
search?”

Milligan just stared blankly.

‘Kleberg, knowing he didn’t need a search warrant to check
whether anyone else was in the other rooms, wandered into
the bedroom and saw the brown jogging suit on the unmade
bed. The place was a mess, laundry strewn all over the floor.
He glanced inside the open walk-in closet, and there on the
shel%, neatly stacked, were credit cards belonging to Donna
West and Carrie Dryer. Even scraps of paper taken from the
women. The brown-tinted sunglasses and a wallet lay on the
dresser.

He went to tell Boxerbaum what he’d seen, and found him
in a dinette that had been converted into an artist’s studio.

“Look at this.” Boxerbaum pointed to a large painting of
what seemed to be a queen or an eighteenth-century aristo-
cratic lady dressed in a blue gown with lace trim, sitting beside
a piano and holding sheet music. The detail was amazing. it
was signed “Milligan.”

“Hey, thats beautiful,” Kleberg said. He glanced at the
other canvases lined up against the wall, the brushes, the
tubes of paint.

Boxerbaum slapped his forehead. “The stains Donna West
said he had on his hand. That’s what they were. He'd been
painting.” '
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Nikki Miller, who had also seen the painting, came up to the
suspect, still sitting in the chair. “You're Milligan, aren't you?”

He looked up at her, dazed. “No,” he mumbled.

“That’s a beautiful painting over there. Did you paint it?”

He nodded.

“Well,” she said, smiling, “it’s signed ‘Milligan.””

Boxerbaum walked up to Milligan. “Bill, I'm Eliot Boxer-
baum of the OSU police. Will you talk to me?”

No response. There was no sign of the eye-drifting Carrie
Dryer had noticed.

“Has anyone read him his rights? No one answered, so
Boxerbaum pulled out his rights card and read it aloud. He
wanted to be sure. “You're accused of kidnapping those girls
from the campus, Bill. Do you want to talk about it?”

Milligan looked up, shocked. “What's goin on? Did I hurt
anybody?”

“You told them other people would come after them. Who
are they?”

“I hope I didn’t hurt anybody.”

As an officer headed into the bedroom, Milligan glanced up.
“Don’t kick that box in there. You'll blow it up.”

“A bomb?” Kleberg asked quickly.

“Its ... in there .. .”

“Will you show me?” Boxerbaum asked.

Mi]éi(%an got up slowly and walked to the bedroom. He
stopped at the door and nodded in the direction of a_small
carton on the floor beside the dresser. Kleberg stayed with
Milligan while Boxerbaum went inside to look. The other
officers crowded behind Milligan in the doorway. Boxerbaum
kneeled beside the box. Through the open top flap he could
see wires and what looked like a clock.

He backed out of the room and said to Sergeant Dempsey,
“You'd better call the fire department bomb squad. Kleberg
and I are going back to the station. We'll take Milligan in.”

Kleberg drove the university police car. Rockwell, from the
SWAT team, sat beside him. Boxerbaum sat in back with
Milligan, who didn’t respond to questions about the rapes. He
just leaned forward, awE\?vard because of the handcué)s at his

ack, and mumbled disconnected remarks: “My brother
Stuart is dead . . . Did I hurt anyone?”

“Did you know any of the girls?” Boxerbaum asked. “Did

you know the nurse?”
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“My mother’s a nurse,” Milligan mumbled.

“Tell me why you went to the OSU campus area for your
victims.”

“The Germans are going to come after me . . .”

“Let’s talk about what happened, Bill. Was it the nurse’s
long black hair that attracted you?”

Milligan looked at him. “You're strange.” Then, starin
again, he said, “My sister’s gonna hate me when she finds out.”

Boxerbaum gave up.

They arrived at the Central Police Station and took their
prisoner in through the back entrance up to the third-floor
processing room. Boxerbaum and Kleberg went into another
office to help Nikki Miller prepare the affidavits for the search
warrants.

At eleven-thirty Officer Bessell read Milligan his rights
againdand asked if he would sign the waiver. Milligan just
stared.

Nikki Miller heard Bessell say, “Listen, Bill, you raped
three women and we want to know about it.”

“Did I do that?” Milligan asked. “Did I hurt anyone? If I
hurt someone, I'm sorry.”

After that, Milligan sat mute.

Bessell took him to the fourth floor slating room to get him
fingerprinted and photographed.

A uniformed policewoman looked up as they entered. Bes-
sell grabbed Milligan’s hand to begin the fingerprinting, but
the prisoner jerked back suddenly, as if terrified to be touched
by him, and moved behind the policewoman for protection.

“He’s scared about something,” she said. Turning to the
white-faced, trembling youth, she spoke softly, as if to a child:
“We've got to take your prints. Do you understand what I'm
saying?”

“I—I don’t want him to touch me.”

“All right,” she said. “T'll do it. Is that okay?”

Milligan nodded and let her fingerprint him. After the
fingerprinting and photographing, an officer led him away to a
holding cell.

When the search warrant forms were completed, Nikki Miller
phoned Judge West. Hearing the evidence she had, and con-
sidering the urgency of the matter, he told her to come to his
home, and at one-twenty that morning he signed the warrants.
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Miller drove back to the Channingway apartment complex
through the fog, which had gotten even worse.

Miller than phoned the mobile Crime Scene Search Unit.
At two-fifteen, when they arrived at the apartment, she pre-
sented the warrants and they made the search. They listed the
items removed from the suspect’s apartment:

DRESSER—cash $343.00, sunglasses, handcuffs and key, wallet,
I.D. for William Simms and William Milligan, charge slip to
Donna West.

CLOSET—Master Charge cards to Donna West and Carrie Dryer,
Clinic Card for Donna West, photograph of Polly Newton, .25
calibre [Tanfoglio Giuseppe] A.R.M.1. [sic] automatic pistol
with five live rounds.

VANITY—3Y% X 11 piece of paper with name and address of Polly
Newton. Page from her address book.
HEADBOARD—Switchblade knife, two packets of powder.
CHEST OF DRaWERS—phone bill for Milligan, S & W holster.
UNDER RED CHAIR—Smith & Wesson 9mm with clip and six live
rounds.

UNDER SEAT OF BROWN CHAIR—clip with fifteen live rounds and
a plastic bag containing fifteen live rounds.

Back at the Central Police Station, Nikki Miller took the
evidence to the clerk of courts, had it notarized and turned it
over to the property room.

“There’s enough here to go to trial with,” she said.

Milligan cringed in the corner of the tiny cell, shaking vio-
lently. Suddenly, after a slight choking sound, he fainted. A
minute later, he opened his eyes and stared around in astonish-
ment at the walls, the toilet, the bunk.

“Oh God, no!” he shouted. “Not again!”

He sat on the floor, staring dully into space. Then he saw
cockroaches in the corner and his expression blanked and
changed. Crossing his legs, he hunched up close, his chin
cupped in his hands, and smiled childishly as he studied them
running in circles.

(2)
Milligan was awake a few hours later when they came to

transfer him. He was handcuffed to a huge black man in a line
of prisoners, which was led out of the lobby, down the stairs
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and out the back door to the parking area. They marched to
the van bound for the Franklin County Jail.

The van drove to the center of the Columbus shopping area,
to a futuristic fortress in the heart of the city. Its concrete walls
jutted up two stories at an inward slope, massive and window-
less. Above the second story, it loomed upward as a modern
office building. The patio of the Franklin County Jail was
presided over by a statue of Benjamin Franklin.

The van turned into an alleyway behind the jail and paused
in front of the corrugated-steel garage door. From this angle,
the jail stood in the shadow of the taller building it was
~ attached to—the Franklin County Hall of Justice.

The steel door cranked upward. The van drove in and the
door came down behind it. The handcuffed prisoners were led
out of the van into the sally port, the area between the two
steel drop doors beside the prison—that is, all except one.
Milligan had slipped out of the handcuffs and was still in the
van.

“Get down outta there, Milligan!” the officer shouted. “You
goddamned sonofabitchin’ rapist. What do you think is going
on here?” i

The black man to whom Milligan had been manacled said, “I
didn’t have nothin’ to do with it. I swears to God he just
flipped ‘em off.”

The jail door hissed open, and the six prisoners were herded
into the passageway between the outer door and the barred
area. Through the bars they could see the control center—TV
monitors, computer terminals and dozens of officers, men and
women in gray trousers or skirts and black shirts. When the
outer door closed behind them, the inner barred gate opened
and they were led inside.

The lobby was filled with black shirts moving around and
the sound of computer terminal typewriters. At the entrance-
way, a woman officer held up a manila envelope. “Valuables,”
she said. “Rings, watches, jewelry, wallet.” When Milligan
emptied his pockets, she took his jacket, searching the lining
before turning it over to the property room officer.

He was frisked again, more carefully, by the young officer,
and then put into a holding cell with the other prisoners,
waiting to be slated and booked. Eyes peered through the
small square window. The black man nudged Milligan and
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said, “Ah guess you is the famous one. You got outta them
cuffs. Now let’s see yall get us outta here.”

Milligan looked at him blankly.

“You just keep messin’ with these po-lice,” he said, “they’s
gonna beat you to death. You c'n jus take my word, ‘cause I
been in the joint many times. You evah been locked up?”

Ilvlilligan nodded. “That’s why I don’t like it. That’s why I like
to leave.”

When the phone rang in the public defender’s office, a block
away from the jail, Gary Schweickart, the tall, bearded, thirty-
three-year-old supervising attorney, was trying to light his
pipe. The call was from Ron Redmond, one of the staff attor-
neys.

“I picked something up while 1 was in municipal court,”
Redmond said. “The police booked the Campus Rapist last
night, and they’ve just moved him to the Franklin County Jail.
They're holding him on half a million dollars’ bond. You ought
to get someone down there to do some first-aid counseling.”

“There’s no one else here right now, Ron. I'm holding the
fort myself.”

“Well, the word’s out, and there’ll be reporters from the
Citizen-Journal and the Dispatch crawling all over the place.
I've got a feeling the police are going to pressure the guy.”

In major felony cases, in which it was likely the police might
continue their investigation post-arrest, Gary Schweickart rou-
tinely chose an attorney at random to send l;{own to the county
jail. But this was no routine arrest. The wide media attention
given the Campus Rapist made the breaking of this case a
major coup for the Columbus police department, and
Schweickart assumed they’d be hounding the prisoner for a
statement or a confession. It was going to take a major effort to
protect his rights.

Schweickart decided to slip over to the Franklin County Jail.
Just a few words with the man to introduce himself as a public
defender and to warn him not to talk to anyone but his at-
torney.

Schweickart was admitted to the county jail in time to see
two police officers bring Milligan in through the sally port and
turn him over to the sergeant in charge. Schweickart asked the
officer to let him talk briefly with the prisoner.
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“Idon’t know anything about what they say I did,” Milligan
whmed “I don’t remember. They just came in and—"

Look, I just wanted to introduce myself,” Schweickart said.
“A crowded hallway isn’t the place to go into the facts of the
case. We'll have a private conference in a day or so.’

“But I don’t remember. They found those things in my
apartment and—"

“Hey, don’t go into it! The walls around here have ears. And
when they’ve got you upstairs, be careful. The police have lots
of tricks. Don't talk to anyone. Even other prisoners. Some of
them could be plants. There are always guys around waiting to
pick up information to sell to somebody. If you want a fair trial,
keep your mouth shut.”

Milligan kept shaking his head and rubbing his cheek, try-
ing to talk about the facts of the case. Then he mumbled
“Plead me not guilty. I think I may be crazy.”
. “Wg’ll see,” Schweickart said, “but we can’t talk about it
ere.
“Is there a lady lawyer who could handle my case?”
“We've got a lady lawvyer. I'll see what I can do.”
Schweickart watched as the officer took Milligan to change
from his street clothes to the blue jump suit worn by all felons
in the county jail. It was going to be difficult to work with a
panicky bundle of nerves like this guy. He wasn’t really deny-
ing the crimes. All he was saying, over and over, was that he
didn’t remember. That was unusual. But the Campus Rapist
pleading insanity? Schweickart could guess what a field day
the newspapers would have with that.
Outside the Franklin County Jail, he bought a Columbus
Dispatch and saw the front-page headline:

PoLicE ARREST SUSPECT IN CaAMPUS-AREA RAPES

The story reported that one of the victims, a twenty-six-year-
old graduate student raped almost two weeks earlier, would be
asked to view a police line-up to identify the suspect. And
there at the top of the story was a mug shot labeled “Milligan.”
Back in the public defender’s office, Schweickart called the
other area newspapers and asked them not to run the photo-
graph because it might prejudice the line-up on Monday. They
turned him down. If they got the picture, they said, they’'d run
it. Schweickart scratched his beard with the bit of his pipe,
then started to phone his wife to say he'd be late for dinner.
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“Hey,” came a voice from the door of his office, “you look
like a bear caught with his nose in a beehive.”

He looked up and saw the smiling face of Judy Stevenson.

“Oh, yeah?"rf)le growled, hanging up the receiver and smil-
ing back. “Well, guess who asked for you?”

She brushed her long brunette hair back out of her face,
revealing the beauty mark on her left cheekbone. Her hazel
eyes questioned.

He pushed the newspaper toward her, pointed to the photo-
graph and the headline, and his deep laugh filled the small
office. “The line-up is Monday morning. Milligan asked for a
lady lawyer. You've got the Campus Rapist.”

4)

]uSy Stevenson arrived at the police line-up at a quarter to ten
Monday morning, October 31, and when they brought Milli-
gan to the holding cell, she saw how frightened and desperate
he looked.

“I'm from the public defenders office,” she said. “Ga
Schweickart said you wanted a woman lawyer, so he and I will
be working together. Now, just settle down. You look as if

_you're going to fall apart.”

He handed her a folded paper “My parole officer brought
me this Friday.”

She uncreased it and saw it was an “Order to Hold” from the
Adult Parole Authority, to keep Milligan in custody and to
inform him that a preliminary hearing on a parole violation
would be held in the Franklin County Jail. Because the police
had discovered weapons at his home during his arrest, she
realized, his parole could be revoked and he could be immedi-
ate;&y sent back to Lebanon prison near Cincinnati to await
trial.

“The hearing is a week from this Wednesday. We'll see what
we can do to keep you here. I'd rather have you in Columbus,
where we can talk with you.”

“I don’t want to go back to Lebanon.”

“Now, just take it easy.” .

“I don’t remember doing any of the things they said I did.”

“We'll have a conference later. Right now you've just got to
go up on that platform and stand there. You think you can
handle that?”

“I guess so.”
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“Brush your hair out of your face so theyll be able to see you
clearly.”

The police officer led him up the steps to join the others in
the line, and he was placed in the number 2 position.

Four people were present at the line-up to make identifica-
tion. Donna West, the nurse who had identified his mug shot,
had been told she wasn’t needed and had gone off to Cleveland
with her fiancé. Cynthia Mendoza, a Kroger store clerk who
cashed one of the checks, did not identify Milligan. She picked
number 3 instead. A woman who had been sexually assaulted
in August under very different circumstances said she thought
it might be number 2 but she wasn’t positive. Carrie Dryer
said without the mustache she couldn’t be sure, but number 2
did look familiar. Polly Newton made positive identification.

On November 3, the grand jury handed down an indictment
on three counts of kidnapping, three counts of aggravated
robbery and four counts of rape. All were first-degree felony
charges, punishable by prison terms of four to twenty-five
years on each count.

The prosecutor’s office rarely got involved in assigning attor-
neys—even in major murder cases. The normal procedure was
for the head of the Felony Division to assign one of the senior
prosecutors two or three weeks in advance, by random selec-
tion. But County Prosecutor George Smith called in two of his
top senior prosecutors and told them that the publicity sur-
rounding the Campus Rapist case had stirred public outrage.
Helwanted them to handle the case and to prosecute vigor-
ously.

Terry Sherman, thirty-two, with curly black hair and a
fierce, guardman’s mustache, had a reputation for coming
down hard on sex offenders and boasted that he had never lost
a rape case before a jury. When he looked at the file, he
laughed. “It’s a locked case. The warrants were good. We've
got this guy. The public defenders have nothing.”

Bernard Zalig Yavitch, a thirty-five-year-old member of the
prosecutors criminal-trial staff, had been two years ahead of
Judy Stevenson and Gary Schweickart in law school and knew
them well. Gary had been his law clerk. Yavitch had practiced
law for four years as a public defender before coming to the
prosecutors office. He agreed with Sherman that it was as
good a case for the prosecution as he had ever seen.
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“As good?” said Sherman. “With all the physical evidence,
the fingerprints, the identification, we've got it all. I tell you,
they've got nothing.”

Sherman talked to Judy a few days later and decided to set
- her straight. “There won't be any plea-bargaining on the Milli-
gan case. We've got the guy and we're going for a conviction
and the maximum sentence. You don’t have anything.”

But Bernie Yavitch was thoughtful. As a former public de-
fender, he knew what he would do if he were in Judy and
Gary’s position. “There’s still one thing they've got left—an
insanity plea.”

Sherman laughed.

The following day William Milligan tried to kill himself by
smashing his head into his cell wall.

“He’s not going to live long enough to stand trial,” Gary
Schweickart said to Judy Stevenson when he got the news.

“I don’t think he’s competent to stand trial,” she said. “I
think we should tell the judge we feel he is incapable of
assisting in his own defense.”

“You want him examined by a shrink?”

“We've got to.”

“Oh my God,” Gary said. “I can see the headlines now.”

“The hell with the headlines. There’s something wrong with
this boy. I don’t know what it is, but you've seen how different
he appears at different times. And when he says he doesn’t
remember the rapes, I believe him. He should be examined.”

“And who pays for it?”

“We've got funds,” she said.

“Yeah, millions.”

“Oh, come on, we can afford to have him tested by a
psychologist.”

“Tell it to the judge,” Gary grumbled.

When the court agreed to a delay so that William Milligan
could be examined by a psychologist, Gary Schweickart then
turned his attention to the on-site hearing by the Adult Parole
Authority at eight-thirty Wednesday morning.

“They're going to send me back to Lebanon,” Milligan said.

“Not if we can help it,” Gary said.

“They found guns in my apartment. And that was one of the
conditions of my parole. ‘Never purchase, own, possess, use or
have under your control a dead?y weapon or firearm.””
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“Well, maybe,” Gary said. “But if we're going to defend you,
we want you here in Columbus, where we can work with you,
not off in Lebanon prison.”

“What are you gonna do?”

“Just leave it to me.”

Gary saw Milligan’s smile, the excitement in his eyes he had
not seen before. He was relaxed, easygoing, trading jokes in an
almost light-hearted way. A very different person from that
bundle of nerves he’d met the first day. It might be a lot easier
to defend him than he’d thought.

“That’s it,” Gary told him. “Keep cool.”

He led Milligan into the conference room, where members
of the Adult Parole Authority were already passing around
copies of a report by Milligan’s parole officer and testimony of
Sergeant Dempsey that during Milligan’s arrest he had found a
9-millimeter Smith and Wesson and a .25-caliber semiauto-
matic with a clip of five bullets.

“Tell me, gentlemen,” Schweickart asked, rubbing his beard
with his knuckles, “have these weapons been test-fired?”

1"N9," said the chairman, “but they're genuine guns, with
clips.

“If they have not been shown capable of propelling ballistics,
what makes them guns?”

“Well, the test-firing won’t be done until next week.”

Gary slammed his open hand on the table. “But I insist you
make your decision about his parole revocation today or else
wait until after the court hearing. Now; is this a gun or is it a
toy? You haven't proven to me that this thing is a gun.” He
looked around from one to the other.

The chairman nodded. “Gentlemen, I believe we have no
alternative but to postpone the parole revocation until we
determine whether or not this is a gun.”

At ten-fifty the following morning, Milligans parole officer
delivered a notice that a parole revocation hearing would be
held on December 12, 1977, at the Lebanon Correctional
Institution. Milligan’s presence was not required.

Judy went to see Milligan about the evidence the Crime Scene
Search Unit had found in his apartment.

She saw the despair in his eyes when he said, “You think I
did it. Don’t you?
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“It’s not what I think that counts, Billy. It’s all this evidence
we've got to deal with. We've got to review your explanation
for having all this stuff in your possession.”

She saw the glazed stare. He seemed to be retreating from
her, drawing back into himself.

“It doesn’t matter,” he said. “Nothing matters anymore.”

The next day she got a letter written on lined yellow legal

paper:
Dear Miss Judy,

I am writing this letter because sometimes I can’t say what I
feel and I want you more than anything to understand.

First of all I want to thank you for everything you have done
for me. You are a kind, sweet person and you did your best.
That’s all anyone can ask.

Now you will be able to forget about me with a clear con-
science. Tell your office that I don’t want any lawyers. I won't
need one.

Now that you believe I am guilty, I must be. All I ever wanted
to know, is for sure. All my life all I ever have done is cause pain
and hurt the opes I love. The bad part is, I can’t stop it because I
can't help it. Locking me away in a prison will make me worse,
like it did the last time. The shrinks don’t know what to do
because they can’t figure out what is wrong.

I will now have to stop myself. I am giving up. I just don’t care
anymore. Would you do one last thing for me? Call Mom or
Kathy and tell them not to come up here anymore. I don’t want
to see anyone again, so don’t waste their gas. But I do love them
and I am sorry. Your the best lawyer I know and T'll always
remember you for being kind to me. Goodbye.

Billy
That evening the desk sergeant called Schweickart at home.
“Your client tried to kill himself again.”
“Oh my God! What'd he do?”
“Well, you're not going to believe this, but we’ve got to press
charges against him for destroying county property. He shat-
tered the toilet bowl in his cell and slashed his wrists with a

sharp piece of porcelain.”
“Holy shit!”
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“T'll tell you something else, counselor. There’s definitely
something strange about your client. He smashed the bowl
with his fist.”

(5)
Schweickart and Stevenson ignored Milligan’s letter firing
them and visited him in prison daily. The public defender’s
office released funds to pay for a psychological evaluation, and
on January 8 and 13, 1978, Dr. Willis C. Driscoll, a clinical
psychologist, administered a battery of tests.

The intelligence tests showed Milligan’s 1Q to be 68, but
Driscoll stated that Milligan’s depression had lowered his
score. His report diagnosed acute schizophrenia.

He is suffering from a major loss of identity such that his ego
boundaries are very poorly defined. He is experiencing schizo-
phrenic loss of distance and has a very restricted capacity to
differentiate between self and his environment. . . . He hears
voices that tell him to do things and yell and scream at him when
he does not comply. Milligan expresses his belief that these
voices are from people who have come from hell to torment him.
He also speaks of good people who periodically invade his body
in order to combat the bad people. . . . In my opinion, Mr.
Milligan is not capable at present, of counseling in his own
behalf. He is not capable of establishing adequate contact with
reality to understand events that are transpiring. I strongly urge
this man to be hospitalized for further examination and possible
treatment.

The first legal skirmish came on January 19, when Stevenson
and Schweickart presented the report to Judge Jay C. Flowers
as evidence that their client could not assist in his own de-
fense. Flowers said he would issue an order for Southwest
Community Mental Health Center in Columbus to assign its
forensic psychiatry unit to examine the defendant. Gary and
Judy were worried, since Southwest was usually on the side of
the prosecution.

Gary insisted that whatever came out during the examina-
tion by Southwest be privileged information, not to be used
against their client under any circumstances. Sherman and
Yavitch disagreed. The public defenders threatened to tell
Milligan not to speak with the psychologists and psychiatrists
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from Southwest. Judge Flowers came close to declaring them
in contempt.

They came to a compromise when the prosecutors agreed
that only if Milligan took the stand in his own defense would
they question him about anything incriminating he might have
said to the court-appointed psychologists. A partial victory was
better than nothing. The public defenders finally decided to
gamble and allow Southwest’s forensic psychiatric unit to inter-
view William Milligan on those terms.

“It’s a good try,” Sherman said, laughing, as they walked out
of Judge Flowers chambers. “Shows how desperate you guys
are getting. But it’s not going to do you any good. I still say this
case is locked.”

To prevent future suicide attempts, the sheriff’s office moved
MiHigan to a single cell in the infirmary range and put him in a
strait jacket. Later that afternoon, Russ Hill, the medic, check-
ing on the prisoner, couldn’t believe what he saw. He called
Sergeant Willis, the officer in charge of the three-to-eleven
shift, and pointed at Milligan through the bars. Willis' mouth
gaped. Milligan had removed his strait jacket and, using it as a
pillow, was fast asleep.



CHAPTER
TWO

(1)

The first interview by Southwest was scheduled on January 31,
1978. Dorothy Turner, a slight, motherly psychologist with a
shy, almost frightened expression, looked up when Sergeant
Willis brought Milligan into the interview room.

She saw a handsome six-foot-tall young man in a blue jump
suit. He had a full mustache and long sideburns, but his eyes
held a childlike fear. He seemed surprised to see her, but by
the time he sat in the chair opposite, he was smiling, hands
folded in his lap.

“Mr. Milligan,” she said, “I'm Dorothy Turner, from the
Southwest Community Mental Health Center, and I'm here to
ask you some questions. Where are you currently living?”

He glanced around. “Here.”

“What is your social security number?”

He frowned and thought about it for a long time, gazing at
the floor, the yellow cinder-block walls, the tin butt can on the
table. He nibbled on his fingernail and studied the cuticle.

“Mr. Milligan,” she said, “if I'm to help you, you'll have to
cooperate. You have to answer my questions so I'll be able to
understand what’s going on. Now, what is your social security
number?”

He shrugged. “T don’t know.”

She looked down at her notes and read off a number.

]Il-Ie shook his head. “That’s not my number. That must be
Billy’s.”

She glanced up sharply. “Well, aren’t you Billy?”

“No,” he said. “Not me.”

S]?l’(’i frowned. “Wait a minute. If you're not Billy, who are
you

24
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“I'm David.”

“Well, where’s Billy?”

“Billy’s asleep.”

“Asleep where?”

He pointed to his chest. “In here. He's asleep.”

Dorothy Turner sighed and braced herself, nodding
patiently. “T have to talk to Billy.”

“Well, Arthur won't let you. Billys asleep. Arthur won't
wake him up, ‘cause if he does, Billy'll kill himself.”

She studied the young man for a long time, not sure how to

roceed. His voice, his expression as he spoke, were childlike.
‘Now, wait a minute. I want you to explain this to me.”

“I can’t. I made a mistake. I wasn’t even supposed to tell.”

“Why not?”

“I'll get into trouble with the others.” There was panic in the
young voice.

“And vour name is ‘David?”

He nodded.

“Who are the others?"

“I can’t tell you.

She tapped the table gently. “Well, David, you've got to tell
me about these things so 1 can help you.

“Ican’t,” he said. “They’ll get real mad at me and they won’t
let me on the spot anymore.

“Well, you've got to tell somebody. Because youre very
scared, aren’t you?”

“Yes,” he said, tears forming in his eyes.

“It’s important for you to trust me, David. You've got to let
me know what’s going on so I can help.”

He thought about it long and hard, and finally he shrugged.
“Well, T'll tell ya on one condition. You got to promise you
won't never tell the secret to nobody in the whole world.
Nobody. Never. Never. Never.”

“Yes,” she said. “I promise.”

“In your whole life?”

She nodded.

“Say you promise.”

“I promise.”

“Okay,” he said. “T’ll tell ya. I don’t know everything. Only
Arthur does. Like you said, I'm scared, because a lot of times I
don’t know what’s going on.”

“How old are you, David?”
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“Eight, going on nine.”

“And why are you the one who came to talk to me?”

“I didn’t even know I was coming on the spot. Somebody got
hurt in the jail and I came to take the pain.”

“Would you explain that?”

“Arthur says I'm the keeper of the pain. When there’s hurt,
I'm the one who takes the spot and feels it.”

“That must be awful.”

Tears brimmed in his eyes as he nodded. “It’s not fair.”

“What’s ‘the spot,” David?”

“That’s what Arthur calls it. He explained to us how it works
when one of the people has to come out. It's a big white
spotlight. Everyboé);: stands around it, watching or sleeping in
tﬁeir beds. And whoever steps on the spot is out in the world.
Arthur says, "Whoever is on the spot holds the conscious-
ness.

“Who are the other people?”

“There are a lot. I don’t know them all. T know some of them
now, but not everyone. Oh, wow.” He gasped.

“What's the matter?”

“I told you Arthur’s name. Now for sure I'll get in trouble for
telling the secret.”

“It’s all right, David. I promised I wouldn’t tell.”

He cringed in his chair. “T can’t talk no more. I'm scared.”

“All right, David. That’s enough for today, but I'll come back
tomorrow and talk to you some more.”

Outside the Franklin County Jail, she stopped and pulled
her coat tightly around her against the cold wind. She had
come prepared to face down a young felon who might be
feigning insanity to avoid prosecution, but she had never
expected anything like this.

(2)

The next day Dorothy Turner noticed something different in
Milligan’s expression as he entered the interview room. He
avoided her eyes and sat in the chair with his knees drawn up,
playing with his shoes. She asked how he was feeling.

He didn’t respond at first, looking around, glancing at her
from time to time with no sign of recognition. Then he shook
his head, and when he spoke it was as a boy with a cockney
accent. “Everythin’ is loud,” he said. “You. All the sounds.
Oye don’t know what’s goin’ on.”
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“Your voice seems funny, David. Is that an accent?”

He peered up at her impishly. “Oy'm not David. Oy'm
Christopher.”

“Well, where’s David?”

“David’s been naughty.”

“What do you mean?”

“Oh, the others are awful mad at 'im 'cause ’e told.”

“Will you explain that to me?”

“Oye can’t. Oye don’t want t'get inter trouble loike David.”

“Well, why is he in trouble?” she asked, frowning.

“’Cause ‘e told.”

“Told what?”

“You know. 'E told the secret.”

“Well then, will you tell me some things about yourself,
Christopher? How old are you?”

“Thirteen.”

“And what do you like to do?”

“Oye play the drums a little, but Oy’'m better on the
‘armonica.”

“And where are you from?”

“England.”

“Do you have any brothers or sisters?”

“Just Christene. She’s three years old.”

She watched his face closely as he spoke in his crisp cockney
accent. He was open, earnest, happy, so different from the
gerson she had spoken to just the day before. Milligan had to

e an incredibly good actor.

3)
On February 4, her third visit, Dorothy Turner noticed that
the young man who walked into the interview room had a
different bearing than she had seen either of the other two
times. He sat casually, slouched back in the chair, gazing at her
arrogantly. ‘

“How are you today?” she asked, almost afraid of what he
might answer.

He shrugged. “Awright.”

“Could you tell me how David and Christopher are doing?”

He frowned and glared at her. “Hey, lady, I don’t even know
you.

“Well, I've come here to help you. We have to talk about
what’s going on.”
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“Shit, I don’t even know what’s going on.”

: “!PD”on’t you remember talking to me the day before yester-
ay!

“Hell, no. I ain’t never seen you in my life.”

“Could you tell me your name?”

“Tommy.”

“ “Tommy’ who?”

“Just Tommy.”

“And your age?”

“Sixteen.”

“And could you tell me a little bit about yourself?”

“Lady, I don't talk to strangers. So leave me alone.”

For the next fifteen minutes she tried to draw him out, but
“Tommy” remained sullen. When she left the Franklin Count
Jail, Dorothy Turner stood on Front Street for a while, dazed,
thinking about “Christopher” and of her promise to “David”
never to reveal the secret. Now she was torn between her
promise and her realization that Milligan’s attorneys had to be
told about this. Later she phoned the public defender’s office
and asked for Judy Stevenson.

“Look,” she said when Stevenson got on the line, “I can’t
really talk with you about it right now, but if you haven’t read
the book Sybil, get yourself a copy and read it.”

Judy Stevenson, surprised by the call from Turner, bought a
paperback copy of Sybil that evening and began to read it.
Once she understood where it was going, she lay back in bed
and stared at the ceiling, thinking: Oh, come on! A multiple
personality? Is that what Turner was trying to tell her? She
tried to visualize the Milligan who had trembled so badly at
the line-up; she thought of the other times he’'d been talkative
and manipulative, trading jokes, quick-witted. She’d always
attributed his changed behavior to depression. And then she
thought of the stories Sergeant Willis told about the slippery
character who could get out of any strait jacket, and medic
Russ Hills comments about the superhuman strength he
showed at times. Milligan’s words echoed in her mind: “I don’t
remember what they said I did. I don’t know anything.”

She thought of waking her husband and talking to him about
it, but she knew what Al would say. She knew what anyone
would say if she tried to tell them what she was thinking now.
In more than three years in the public defender’s office, she’d
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never come up against anyone like Milligan. She decided to
say nothing to Gary yet, either. She had to check it out for
herself.

The next morning she called Dorothy Turner. “Look,” she
said, “the Milligan I've met and talked to for the past few
weeks has acted strange at times. There have been changes of
mood. Hes temperamental. But I haven’t seen the major
differences that would lead me to conclude it’s like the Sybil
case.

“This is something I've been struggling with for days,”
Turner said. “I promised not to tell anyone and I've stuck to
that. All I told you was to read that book. But I am going to try
to get him to agree to let me tell you the secret.”

Reminding herself that this was a psychologist from South-
west—from the prosecutor’s side—Judy said, “You take the
Jead. Let me know what you want me to do.”

When Dorothy Turner came back to see Milligan for the fourth
time, she met the frightened little boy who had called himself
David that first day.

“I know I promised never to tell the secret,” she said, “but
I've got to tell Judy Stevenson.”

“No!” he shouted, jumping to his feet. “You promised! Miss
Judy won’t like me anymore if you tell her.”

“She will like you. She’s your lawyer and she needs to know
so she can help you.”

“You promised. If you break a promise, that’s like a lie. You
can't tell. I got into trouble. Arthur and Ragen are mad at me
for letting the secret slip out, and—"

“Who’s ‘Ragen’?”

“You made a promise. And promises are the most important
things in the world.”

“Don’t you understand, David? If I don’t tell Judy, she won’t
be able to save you. You might even go to jail for a long time.”

“I don’t care. You promised.”

BRut R

She saw his eyes glaze and his mouth begin to move as if he
were talking to himself. Then he sat erect, placed his fingertips
together and glared at her.

“Madam, you have no right,” he said in a crisp, upper-class
British accent, his jaw barely moving, “to break your promise
to the lad.”
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“I don’t believe we've met,” she said, gripping the arms of
the chair, trying desperately to hide her surprise.

“He told you about me.

“You're Arthur’®”

He acknowledged with a curt nod.

She took a deep breath. “Now, Arthur, it’s essential that I tell
the attorneys what’s going on.”

“No,” he said. “They will not believe you.”

“Why don't we see? I'll just bring Judy Stevenson over to
meet you and—"

“No.”

“It might save you from prison. I've got to let—"

He leaned forward and glared at her disdainfully. “I tell you
this, Miss Turner. If you bring anyone along, the others will
just remain silent, and you'll look like a fool.”

After fifteen minutes of arguing with Arthur, she noticed the
glazed look in his eyes. He leaned back in the chair When he
leaned forward, the voice was different, the expression casual
and friendly.

“You can't tell,” he said. “You made a promise, and that’s a
sacred thing.”

“Who am [ talking to now?” she whispered.

“Allen. I'm the one who talks to Judy and Gary most of the

tlme
“But they only know Billy Milligan.”

“We all answer to Billy’s name so the secret won’t get out.
But Billy’s asleep. He'’s been asleep for a long time. Now, Mrs.
Turner—You mind if I call you Dorothy? Billy’s mother’s name
is Dorothy.”

“You say you talk to Judy and Gary most of the time. Who
else have they met?”

“Well, they don’t know it, because Tommy sounds a lot like
me. You met Tommy. He’s the one they can’t keep the strait
jacket or the handcuffs on. We're a lot alike, except I do most
of the talking. He gets kind of nasty and sarcastic. Doesn’t get
along with people like I do.”

“Who else have they met?”

He shrugged. “The first one Gary saw when they booked us
was Danny. He was scared and confused. He doesn’t know
much about what's going on. He's only fourteen.”

“How old are you?”

“Eighteen.”
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She sighed and shook her head. “All right . . . ‘Allen.” You
seem like an intelligent young man. You understand that I've
got to be released from my promise. Judy and Gary have to be
told what's going on so they can defend you properly.”

“Arthur and Ragen are against it,” he said. “They say people
will think we're crazy.”

“But won't it be worthwhile if you can be kept from going
back to prison?”

He shook his head. “It’s not up to me. We've kept this secret
all our lives.”

“Who is it up to?”

“Well, everyone, really. Arthur is in charge, but the secret
belongs to all of us. David told you, but it really shouldn’t go
any further.” .

She tried to explain to him that it was her job as a psycholo-
gist to make these things known to his attorney, but Allen
pointed out that there was no guarantee it would help, and
then with all the publicity and newspaper headlines, it would
make life impossible in prison.

David, whom she had come to recognize by his little-boy
demeanor, came out and begged her to keep her promise.

She asked to speak to Arthur again, and he came out frown-
ing. “You are persistent,” he said.

She argued with him, and finally she had the feeling that she
was wearing him down. “I don't like arguing with a lady,” he
said. He leaned back with a sigh. “If you feel this is absolutely
necessary, and if the others agree, I give my permission. But
you must get the agreement of each one.”

It took hours of arguing as she explained the situation to
each one who came forward, never ceasing to be amazed when
a transformation occurred. On the fifth day, she confronted
Tommy, who was picking his nose: “So you do realize I have to
tell Miss Judy.”

1 “i,gfiy, I don’t give a damn what you do. Just get off my
ack.

Allen said, “Promise you won't tell anyone in the world
except Judy. And you've got to make her promise she won't tell
anyone else.”

“T agree,” she said. “And you won't be sorry.”

That afternoon, Dorothy Turner went directly from the
prison to the public defenders office down the street and



32 THE MINDS OF BILLY MILLIGAN

talked with Judy Stevenson. She explained the conditions
Milligan had set forth.

“You mean I can’t tell Gary Schweickart?”

“I had to give my word. I was lucky to get him to agree to let
you in on it.”

“I'm skeptical,” Judy said.

Turner nodded. “Good. So was I. But I promise you, when
we see your client, you're in for a surprise.”

4

As(Se)rgeant Willis led Milligan into the conference room, Judy
Stevenson noticed her client’s manner was withdrawn, like a
shy adolescent. He seemed frightened of the officer, as if he
didn’t know him, and ran quickly to the table to sit beside
Dorothy Turner. He wouldn’t speak until Willis left. He kept
rubbing his wrists.

Turner said, “Would you tell Judy Stevenson who you are?”

He sank back in the chair and shook his head, looking
toward the door as if to make sure the officer was gone.

“Judy,” Turner said finally, “this is Danny. I've come to know
him quite well.”

“Hi, Danny.” Stevenson tried to hide her bewilderment at
the different voice and facial expression.

He looked up at Turner and whispered, “See? She’s looking
at me like she thinks I'm crazy.”

“I don’t,” Judy said. “Its just that I'm confused. This is a
very unusual situation. How old are you, Danny?”

He rubbed his wrists as if he’d just been untied and was
trying to restore the circulation. But he didn’t answer.

“Danny is fourteen,” Turner said. “He’s a fine artist.”

“What kind of paintings do you do?” Stevenson asked.

“Still lifes mostly,” Danny said.

“Did you also paint some of those landscapes the police
found in your apartment?”

“I don’t paint landscapes. I don't like the ground.”

“Why is that?”

“I can’t tell or he'll kill me.”

“Who will kill you?” She was surprised to find herself cross-
examining him, knowing she didn’t believe any of it, deter-
mined she was not going to be taken in by a hoax, but amazed
by what seemed to be a brilliant performance.

He closed his eyes and the tears ran down his cheeks.
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Feeling herself more and more baffled by what was happen-
ing, Judy watched closely as he seemed to shrink back into
himself. His lips moved silently, his eyes glazed and then
drifted sideways. He looked around, startled, until he recog-
nized both women and realized where he was. He settled
back, crossed his legs and withdrew a cigarette from his right
sock without removing the pack.

“Anybody got a light?”

Judy lit his cigarette. He took a deep drag, puffed the smoke
upward. “So whats new?” he said.

“Would you tell Judy Stevenson who you are?”

He nodded, blowing a'smoke ring. “I'm Allen.”

“Have we met before?” Judy asked, hoping the trembling in
her voice wasn't obvious.

“I've been here a few times when you or Gary came to talk
about the case.”

“But we've always talked to you as Billy Milligan.”

He shrugged. “We all answer to Billy’s name. Saves a lot of
explaining. But I never said I was Billy. You just assumed it,
and I didn’t think it would do any good to tell you otherwise.”

“Can 1 talk to Billy?” Judy asked.

“Oh, no. They keep him asleep. If they let him on the spot,
he’d kill himself.”

“Why?”

“He’s still scared of being hurt. And he doesn’t know about
the rest of us. All he knows is that he loses time.”

“What do you mean by ‘loses time'®” Judy asked.

“It happens to all of us. Youre someplace doing something.
Then suddenly you're someplace else, and you can tell that
time has passed, but you don’t know what happened.”

Judy shook her head. “That must be awful.”

“You never get used to it,” Allen said.

When Sergeant Willis came to take him back to his cell,
Allen looked up and smiled at him. “That’s Sergeant Willis,”
he said to the two women. “I like him.”

Judy Stevenson left the Franklin County Jail with Turner.

“You see why I called you,” Dorothy said.

Stevenson sighed. “I came here sure I'd be able to see
through a phony act. But I'm convinced I've talked to two
different people. Now I can understand why he seemed so
different at times. I attributed it to changes of mood. We've got
to tell Gary.”



34 THE MINDS OF BILLY MILLIGAN

“It was difficult enough for me to get permission to tell you.
I don’t think Milligan will permit it.”

“He has to,” Judy said. “I can’t carry the burden of this
knowledge by myself.”

When she left the jail, Judy Stevenson found herself in
turmoil, awed, angry, confused. It was all incredible. Impossi-
ble. But somewhere in the back of her mind, she knew, she
was beginning to believe it.

Later that day Gary phoned her at home to tell her the
sheriff’s office had called to inform him that Milligan had
attempted suicide again by smashing his head against the wall
of his cell.

“Funny thing,” Gary said. “Looking through his records, I
just realized todays February 14, his twenty-third birthday.
You know something else . . . it’s Valentines Day.”

(5)

The next day Dorothy and Judy told Allen it was important to
let Gary Schweickart in on the secret.

“Absolutely not.”

“But you've got to allow it,” Judy said. “To save you from
prison, other people have to be told.”

“You promised. That was the agreement.”

“I know,” Judy said. “But it is essential.”

“Arthur says no.”

“Let me talk to Arthur,” Dorothy said.

Arthur came out and glared at both of them. “This is getting
very tiresome. 1 have a lot of thinking and studying to do, and
I'm weary of all this badgering.”

“You've got to give us permission to tell Gary,” Judy said.

“Absolutely not. Two people too many alre:g; know.”

“It’s necessary if we're to help you,” Turner said.

“I don’t need help, madam. Danny and David may need
help, but it’s really none of my concern.”

“Don’t you care about keeping Billy alive?” Judy asked,
infuriated by Arthur’s superior attitude.

“Yes,” he said, “but at what cost? They're going to say we're
crazy. This is all getting quite out of hand. We've been keeping
Billy alive ever since he tried to jump off the school roof.”

" "Vx,hat do you mean?” Turner asked. “Keeping him alive
oW’

“By keeping him asleep all this time.”
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“Don’t you see how this can affect our case?” Judy said. “It
can determine prison or freedom. Wouldn’t you have more
time and freedom to think and study outside the prison walls?
Or do you want to go back to Lebanon?”

Arthur crossed his legs, looking from Judy to Dorothy and
back again. “I don't like to argue with ladies. I'll agree only on
the same condition as before—that you get all the others to
agree as well.”

Three days later Judy Stevenson got permission to tell Gary
Schweickart.

She walked from the Franklin County Jail in the cold Febru-
ary morning back to the public defenger’s office. She poured
herself a cup of coffee, went directly to Gary’s cluttered office,
sat down and braced herself.

“Okay,” she said. “Have them hold all your calls. I've got
something to tell you about Billy.”

When she was done telling him about her meetings with
Dorothy Turner and Milligan, he looked at her as if she were
crazy.
h“I’ve seen it with my own eyes,” she insisted. “T've talked to
them.”

He stood up and lumbered back and forth behind his desk,
his unbrushed hair hanging outside his collar, his baggy shirt
half out of his belt. “Oh, come on,” he protested. “No way. I
mean, I know he’s mentally disturbed, and I'm on your side.
But this isn’t going to work.”

“You have to come and see it for yourself. You just don’t
know . . . I'm absolutely convinced.”

“All right. But I'll tell you this—I dont believe it. The
prosecutor’s not going to believe it. And the judge isn’t going
to believe it. I've got great confidence in you, Judy. You're a
fine lawyer and an excellent judge of people. But this is a con.
I think you're being had.”

The following day, Gary went with her to the Franklin
County Jail at three o'clock, expecting to stay just half an hour.
He had rejected the whole idea completely. It was impossible.
But his skepticism turned to curiosity as he confronted one
personality after another. He saw the frightened David turn
into the shy Danny, who remembered meeting him that first
terrifying day when they brought him in and booked him.

“I didn’t have any idea what was going on when they busted
into the apartment and arrested me,” Danny said.

-~
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“What made you say that there was a bomb?”

“I didn’t say there was a bomb.”

“You told the officer, ‘You'll blow it up.””

“Well, Tommy is always saying, ‘Keep away from my stuff or
it might blow up.””

“Why does he say that?”

“Ask him. He’s the electronics expert, always fooling around
with wires and stuff. It was his thing.”

Schweickart pulled on his beard several times. “An escape
artist and an electronics expert. All right, can we talk to
“Tommy'?”

“I don’t know. Tommy only talks to people he wants to talk
to.”
“Can’t you bring Tommy out?” Judy asked.

“I can’t just do it. It has to happen. I guess I could ask him to
talk to you.”

“Try,” Schweickart said, restraining a smile. “Do your best.”

Milligan’s body seemed to withdraw into itself. His face
paled, eyes glazed as if turning inward. His lips moved as he
talked to himself, and the intense concentration pervaded the
small room. Schweickarts smirk faded as he held his own
breath. Milligan’s eyes drifted from side to side. He glanced
around, like someone wakened from a deep sleep, and put his
hand to his right cheek as if to feel its solidity. Tgen he leaned
back arrogantly in his chair and glared at the two attorneys.

Gary let out his breath. He was impressed. “Are you
Tommy?” he asked.

“Who wants to know?”

“I'm your lawyer.”

“Not my lawyer.”

“I'm the one who's going to help Judy Stevenson keep that
body you're wearing out of jail, whoever you are.”

“Shit. I don't need noboc{y to keep me out of anything. No
jail in the world can hold me. I can bust out anytime I want
to.”

Gary stared him down. “So you're the one who keeps slip-
ping out of the strait jacket. You must be Tommy.”

He looked bored. “Yeah . . . yeah.”

“Danny was telling us about that box of electronic stuff the
police found in the apartment. He said it was yours.”

“He always did have a big mouth.”

“Why did you make a fake bomb?”
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“Shit, it wasn't a fake bomb. Can I help it if the damned
cops are too dumb to know a black box when they see one?”

‘What do you mean?”

“Just what I said. It was a black box to override the tele-
phone company system. I was just experimenting around with
a new telephone for the car. I taped up those cylinders with
red tape, and the dumb cops thought it was a bomb.”

“You told Danny it might explode.”

“Oh, for Chrissakes! I always tell the young ones that so
they'll keep their hands off my stuff.”

l‘(‘\/(\i’here did you learn about electronics, Tommy?” Judy
asked. .

He shrugged. “On my own. From books. Ever since I can
remember, I wanted to know how things worked.”

“And the escape-artist stuff?” asked Judy.

“Arthur encouraged me on that. Someone was needed to get
out of the ropes when one of us was tied up in the barn. I
learned how to control my hand muscles and bones. Then I got
interested in all kinds of locks and bolts.”

S?chweickart thought for a moment. “Are the guns yours,
too?”

Tommy shook his head. “Ragen is the only one allowed to
handle guns.”

“Allowed? Who does the allowing?” Judy asked.

“Well, that depends where we are . . . Look, I'm tired of
being pumped for information. Thats Arthur’s job, or Allen’s.
Ask one of them, okay? I'm leaving.”

“Wait . . .”

But Judy was too late. His eyes blanked and he shifted
position. He placed his fingertips together, making his hands a
pyramid. As his chin lifted, his face changed to the expression
she had come to recognize as Arthur. She introduced him to

ary.

“You have to forgive Tommy,” Arthur said coldly. “He is a
rather antisocial youth. If he weren’t so clever with electronic
equipment and locks, I think I would have banished him long
ago. But his are useful talents.”

“What are your talents?” Gary asked.

Arthur waved his hand deprecatingly. “I'm just an amateur. I
dabble in biology and medicine.”

“Gary was asking Tommy about the guns,” Judy said. “It’s a
parole violation, you know.”
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Arthur nodded. “The only one permitted to handle guns is
Ragen, the keeper of rage. That is his specialty. But he may
use them only for protection and survival. Just as he may use
his great strength only for the common good, never to harm
others. He has the abiﬁty to control and concentrate his adren-
aline, you know.”

“He used the guns when he kidnapped and raped those four
women,” Gary said.

Arthur’s voice dropped to an icy calmness. “Ragen never
raped anyone. I've spoken to him about this case. He started
to commit robberies because he was worried about the unpaid
bills. He admits robbing the three women in October, but he
denies, absolutely, any involvement with that woman in
August or with any sex crimes.”

Gary leaned forward, watching Arthur’s face closely,
aware that his own skepticism was melting away. “But the
evidence—"

“Evidence be damned! If Ragen says he didn’t do it, there’s
no use in questioning it. He won'’t lie. Ragen is a thief, but he
is no rapist.”

“You say you've spoken to Ragen,” Judy said. “How does
that work? Do you talk to each other out loud or in your head?
Is it speech or thought?”

Arthur clasped his hands. “It happens both ways. Some-
times it's internal, and in all probability no one else knows its
happening. At other times, usually when we're alone, its
definitely aloud. I imagine if someone was watching us, he or
she would think we were quite mad.”

Gary sat back, pulled out his handkerchief and wiped the
perspiration from his brow. “Who's going to believe this?”

Arthur smiled condescendingly. “As I was saying, Ragen,
like the rest of us, never lies. All our lives people have accused
us of being liars. It has become a point of honor among us
never to tell a falsehood. So we don’t really care who believes.”

“But you don’t always volunteer the truth,” Judy said.

“And that’s lying by omission,” Gary added.

“Oh, come now,” Arthur said, making no effort to hide his
disdain. “As an attorney, you know very well a witness is under
no compulsion to volunteer information he hasn’t been asked
for. You would be the first to tell a client to stick to a yes or no
answer and not elaborate unless it was in his interest. If you
come out and ask one of us a direct question, you'll get a
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truthful answer or silence. Of course, there will be times when
the truth may be taken several ways. The English language is
by nature ambiguous.”

Gary nodded thoughtfully. “T'll keep that in mind. But I
think we've gotten off the track. About those guns . . .”

“Ragen knows, much more than anyone, what happened the
mornings of the three crimes. Why don’t you talk to him?”

“Not right now,” Gary said. “Not yet.”

“I sense you're afraid to meet him.”

Gary looked up sharply. “Isn’t that what you want? Isn’t that
part of your reason for telling us how evil and dangerous he
is?”

“I never said he was evil.”

“That’s the effect,” Gary said.

“I think it’s important for you to know Ragen,” Arthur said.
“You've unlocked Pandora’s box. I think you should open the
lid all the way. But he won't come out unless you want him to.”

“Does he want to talk to us?” Judy asked.

“The question is, Do you want to speak to him?”

Gary found that the thought of Ragen coming out did
frighten him.

“I think we should,” Judy said, looking at Gary.

“He won't hurt you,” Arthur told them with a tight-lipped
smile. “He knows you're both here to help Billy. We've talked
about it, and now that the secret’s out, we realize we have to be
open with you. It’s the last hope, as Mrs. Stevenson so force-
fully put it, to keep us out of prison.”

Gary sighed and put his head back. “All right, Arthur. I'd
like to meet Ragen.”

Arthur moved his chair to the far end of the small interview
room, to put as much distance between them as possible. He
sat down again, and his eyes grew distant, as if looking inward.
His lips moved, his hand jerked up to touch his cheek. His jaw
tightened. Then he shifted, the body dropping from a stiff-
backed posture to the aggressive crouchlike position of a wary
fighter. “Is not right. Vas not good to reveal secret.”

They listened in astonishment as the voice dropped to a low,
harsh tone with confident power and hostility. It boomed out
in the small conference room with a deep, rich Slavic accent.

“I tell you now,” Ragen said, glaring at them, the tension in
his face muscles changing his appearance, eyes piercing,
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brows beetled. “Even after David tells secret by mistake, I vas
against it.”

It did not sound like an imitation of a Slavic accent. His
voice now truly had the natural sibilant quality of someone
who had been raised in Eastern Europe, had learned to speak
English, but had never lost his accent.

“Why were you against letting the truth come out?” Judy
asked.

“Who vill believe?” he said, clenching his fist. “They vill all
say ve are crazy. It is do no good.”

“It might keep you out of prison,” Gary said.

“How is possible?” Ragen snapped. “T am not a fool, Mr.
Schweickart. Police have evidence 1 commit robberies. I admit
three robberies near university. Only three. But other things
they say I do is lie. I am not rapist. I vill go into court and
confess robberies. But if ve go to jail, T kill children. Is
euthanasia. Jail is no place for little ones.”

“But if you kill . . . the little ones . . . won’t that also mean
your own death?” asked Judy.

“Not necessary,” Ragen said. “Ve are all different people.”

Gary ran his fingers impatiently through his hair “Look,
when Billy—or whoever—smashed his head into the wall of
his cell last week, didn’t it damage the skull you're wearing?”

Ragen touched his forehead. “Is true. But vas not for me

pain.

“Who felt the pain?” Judy asked.

“David is keeper of pain. Is one who accepts all suffering.
David is empath.”

Gary started out of his chair to pace, but when he saw Ragen
tense, he thought better of it and sat back. “Is David the one
who tried to bash his brains out?”

Ragen shook his head. “Vas Billy.”

“Ah,” said Gary, “I thought Billy has been asleep all this
time.”

“Is true. But it vas his birthday. Little Christene makes for
him birthday card, and she vants give it to him. Arthur allows
Billy to vake up for birthday and to take spot. I vas against it. I
am protector. Is my responsibility. Maybe is true Arthur is
more intelligent than I am, but he is human. Arthur makes
mistakes.”

“What happened when Billy woke up?” Gary asked.
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“He looks around. He sees he is in prison cell. He thinks he
is do something bad. So he smashes head into vall.”

Judy winced.

“You see, Billy knows nothing about us,” Ragen said. “He
has—uvat you call it>—amnesia. Let me put it this vay. Ven he
is in school, losing so much time, he goes up to roof. He starts
to jump. I remove him from spot to stop him. He is asleep ever
since that day. Arthur and I keep him asleep to protect him.”

“When was that?” Judy asked.

“Right after sixteenth birthday. I remember he vas
depressed because his father makes him vork on his birthday.”

*My God,” Gary whispered. “Asleep for seven years?”

“Is still asleep. He vas only for few minutes avake. It vas
mistake to let him on spot.”

“Who'’s been doing things?” Gary asked. “Working? Talking
to people ever since? No one we've spoken to has reported a
British or Russian accent.”

“Not Russian, Mr. Schweickart. Yugoslavian.”

“Sorry.”

“Is all right. Just to keep record straight. To answer ques-
tion: lAll’gzn and Tommy are mostly on spot ven dealing vit other
people.

“They just come and go as they please?” Judy asked.

“Let me put it this vay. In different circumstances, spot is
ruled by me or by Arthur, depending on situation. In prison I
control spot—decide who goes on, who stays off—because is
dangerous place. As protector, I have full power and command.
In situations vere is no danger and vere intelligence and logic
are more important, then Arthur dominates spot.”

“Who controls the spot now?” Gary asked, aware that he had
lost all professional detachment and had become totally curi-
ous, totally involved in this incredible phenomenon.

Ragen shrugged and looked around. “Is prison.”

The door to the interview room opened unexpectedly, and
Ragen jumped up, catlike, quickly alert and defensive, his
hands in karate position. When he saw it was only an attorney
checking to see if the room was occupied, Ragen settled back.

Though Gary had expected to spend the usual fifteen min-
utes or half-hour with his client, positive he would debunk a
total fraud, by the time he left five hours later, he was com-
pletely convinced that Billy Milligan was a multiple personal-
ity. As he walked out with Judy into the cold night, Gary found
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his mind racing with absurd notions of taking a trip to England
or Yugoslavia to see if he could find records of Arthurs or
Ragen’s existence. It wasn’t that he believed there was any-
thing like reincarnation or possession by the devil, but walking
along in a daze, he had to admit that he had met different
people today in that little conference room.

He glanced at Judy, who was also walking in stunned
silence. “Okay,” he said. “I have to admit I'm in an intellectual
and emotional state of shock. I believe. And I think I can
convince Jo Anne when she asks why I missed dinner again.
But how the hell are we ever going to convince the prosecutor
and the judge?”

(6)

On February 21, Dr. Stella Karolin, a psychiatrist from the
Southwest Community Mental Health Center and a colleague
of Dr. Turner’s, informed the public defenders that Dr. Cor-
nelia Wilbur, world famous for having treated Sybil, the
woman with sixteen personalities, had agreed to come from
Kentucky to see Milligan on March 10.

Preparing for Dr. Wilbur’s visit, Dorothy Turner and Judy
Stevenson assumed the task of convincing Arthur, Ragen and
the others to allow yet another person to be told the secret.
Again they were forced to spend hours convincing each of the
personalities one at at a time. They had by now heard nine
names—Arthur, Allen, Tommy, Ragen, David, Danny,
Christopher, but they had not yet met Christene, Christo-
pher’s three-year-old sister, nor Kad they met the original or
core person, Billy, whom the others were keeping asleep.
When they finally received permission to let others in on the
secret, they made arrangements for a group, including the
prosecutor, to observe the meeting between Dr. Wilbur and
Milligan at the Franklin County Jail.

Judy and Gary interviewed Milligan’s mother, Dorothy, his
younger sister, Kathy, and older brother, Jim, and though none
of them could provide firsthand knowledge of the abuses
alleged by Billy, the mother described her own experiences of
being beaten by Chalmer Milligan. Teachers, friends and rela-
tives described Billy Milligan's strange behavior, his attempts
at suicide and his trancelike states.

Judy and Gary were certain they were building a convincing
case of a defendant who—by all legal tests in Ohio—was
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incapable of standing trial. But they realized they faced
another hurdle: If Judge Flowers accepted the report by
Southwest, Billy Milligan would now have to be sent to a
mental institution for evaluation and treatment. They didn’t
want him sent to the Lima State Hospital for the Criminally
Insane. They knew its reputation from many of their former
clients, and they felt certain he would never survive there.

Though Dr. Wilbur was to have seen Milligan on Friday, her
plans were changed for personal reasons, and Judy called Gary
from home to tell him.

“You coming into the office this afternoon?” he asked.

“I wasn’t planning on it,” she said.

“We've got to go through this thing,” he said. “Southwest
keeps saying there’s no alternative to Lima, and something in
the back of my head says there’s got to be.”

“Look, with the thermostat turned down, the office is
damned cold,” she said. “Al’s out and I've got a fire going here.
Come on over. I'll make you some Irish coffee and we can
review it.”

He laughed. “You twisted my arm.”

A half-hour later, they were both sitting in front of the fire.

Gary warmed his hands on the steaming mug. “Tll tell you, I
was really thrown for a loop when Ragen came out,” he said.
“What amazes me is how likable he is.”

“Just what I was thinking,” Judy said.

“I mean, Arthur calls him the ‘keeper of hate.” I expected
something with horns. But he’s really a charming and interest-
ing guy. I believe him completely when he denies the August
rape of the woman assaulteg at the Nationwide Plaza, and now
Ih nd myself wondering when he says he didn’t rape the other
three.”

“I agree about the first. It's obviously a copy-cat accusation.
Completely different pattern. But the last three were certainly
abducted, robbed ang raped,” Judy said.

“All we get are bits and pieces of what he remembers of the
crimes. It's damned odd, you know, Ragen saying he recog-
nized his second victim, certain that one of them had met her
before.”

“And now we learn about Tommy remembering coming out
and being on the spot at the Wendy's drive-in, having a ham-
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burger with the third victim, figuring one of the others was out
on a date with her.” :

“Polly Newton’s story confirms the stop at the burger place.
And she’s the one who said he got the strange look and quit the
sex after a couple of minutes, and said he couldn’t do it, and
said to himself, ‘Bill, what’s wrong with you? Get yourself
t({)fggther.’ And then told her he needed a cold shower to cool
off.

“But all that crazy talk about being from the Weathermen
and driving a Maserati.”

“One of them was boasting.”

“Okay, let’s just admit we don’t know what happened, and
neither do any of the personalities we've dealt with.”

“Ragen admits the robberies,” Judy said.

“Yeah, but denies the rapes. I mean, the whole thing is
strange. Can you imagine, three different times within a two-
week period Ragen drinks and takes amphetamines and then
in the early hours of the morning jogs eleven miles across town
to the Ohio State campus? And then after selecting a victim,
he blacks out—"

“Leaves the spot,” Judy corrected.

“That’s what I mean.” He held his cup out for a refill. “So in
each case he leaves the spot, and the next thing he finds
himself in downtown Columbus with the money in his pocket
and figures he committed the robberies he set out to do. But
he doesn’t remember doing it. Any of the three. As he says,
someone stole time in between.”

“Well, there are pieces missing,” Judy said. “Someone was
tossing those bottles into the pond and taking target practice.”

Gary nodded. “That proves it wasn’t Ragen. According to
the woman, he couldn’t get the gun operating for a few sec-
onds. I mean, fooling with it until he got the safety catch off.
And then missing a couple of the bottles. An expert like Ragen
wouldn’t miss.”

“But Arthur says the others are forbidden to handle Ragen’s
guns.

“I can just see us explaining that to Judge Flowers.”

- “Are we going to?”

“Idon’t know,” he said. “It’s dumb to use an insanity defense
for a multiple personality, since its classified officially as a
neurosis and not a psychosis. I mean, the shrinks themselves
say multiples are not insane.”
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“Okay,” Judy said, “why not just a straight not guilty without
calling it insanity? We attack the notion of purposefulness of
the acts, like the multiple personality case in California.”

“That was a minor offense,” Gary said. “With a notorious
case like ours, a multiple personality defense just won't fly.
That's a fact of life.”

She sighed and stared into the fire.

“And TI'll tell you something else,” Gary said, stroking his
beard. “Even if Judge Flowers sees it the way we do, he’s
going to send him to Lima. Billy heard about the kind of place
Lima is when he was in prison. You remember what Ragen
said about euthanasia? About killing the children if he’s sent
there? I believe he would.”

“Then we get him sent somewhere else!” said Judy.

;Southwest says Lima’s the only place for treatment before
trial.”

* “He goes to Lima over my dead body,” she said.

“Correction,” Gary said, raising his cup. “Over our dead
bodies.”

They clinked their cups and then Judy refilled them. “I can’t
accept that we don’t have a choice.”

“Let’s find a choice,” he said.

“Right you are,” she said. “We'll find a choice.”

“It’s never been done before,” he said, wiping the cream
from his beard.

“So what? Ohio has never had a Billy Milligan before.”

She pulled her well-thumbed copy of the Ohio Criminal
Law Handbook from the shelf, and they both went over it,
taking turns reading aloud.

“More Irish?” she asked.

He shook his head. “Just black, and make it strong.”

Two hours later, he made her reread a passage from the
hgzdbtéok. She ran her finger down the page to Section
2945.38.

. . . if the court or jury finds him to be not sane he shall be

forthwith committed by the court to a hospital for the mentally

ill or mentally retarded within the jurisdiction of the court. If.
the court finds it advisable, it shall commit such person to the

Lima State Hospital until he is restored to reason, and upon

being restored to reason the accused shall be proceeded against

as provided by the law.
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“Yeah!” shouted Gary, jumping up. “ ‘A hospital within the
jurisdiction of the court.” It doesn’t say only Lima.”

“We found it!”

“Jesus,” he said, “and everybody’s been saying there's never
been an alternative to Lima for pretrial commitment.”

“Now we've just got to find another mental hospital within
the jurisdiction of the court.”

Gary slapped his forehead. “Oh my God. This is incredible.
I know one. I worked there as a psychiatric aide after I got out
of the service. Harding Hospital.”

“Harding? Is that in the court’s jurisdiction?”

“Sure. Worthington, Ohio. And listen, its one of most con-
servative, respectable psychiatric hospitals in the country. It's
affiliated with the Seventh-Day Adventist Church. I've heard
tough prosecutors say, If Dr. George Harding, Jr, says the
man’s insane, I'll buy it. He’s not like some other doctor who
will examine a patient for thirty minutes for the defense and
say he’s crazy.””

“Prosecutors say that?”

He held up his right hand. “I heard it, so help me. I even
think it was Terry Sherman. And, hey, I think I remember
Dorothy Turner saying she often did testing for Harding
Hospital.”

“So we get him into Harding,” she said.

Gary sat down quickly, dejected. “Just one thing. Harding
Hospital is an exclusive, expensive private hospital, and Billy
has no money.”

“We're not going to let that stop us,” she said.

“Yeah, how do we get him in?”

“We make them want to take Billy.”

“And just how do we do that?” he asked.

A half-hour later, Gary wiped the snow off his boots and rang
Harding’s doorbell. He was suddenly very conscious of himself
as a bearded, wacko public defender confronting the conserva-
tive, Establishment psychiatrist—the grandson of the brother
of President Warren G. Harding, no less—in his luxurious
home. Judy should have come. She’d have made a better
impression. He tightened his loose tie and tucked his curled-
up shirt collar into his jacket as the front door opened.
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George Harding at forty-nine was an impeccable, lean,
smooth-faced man with soft eyes and a soft voice. He struck
Gary as quite handsome. “Come in, Mr. Schweickart.”

Gary struggled to pull off his boots and left them in a puddle
~in the foyer. Then, shucking his coat and hanging it on the
rack, he followed Dr. Harding into the living room.

“I thought your name was familiar,” Hart%ing said. “Then,
after you phoned, I checked back in the newspapers. You're
defending Milligan, the young man who attacked the four
women on the Ohio State campus.”

Gary shook his head. “Three. The August rape at the
Nationwide Plaza was a very different kind of assauFt and will
surely be thrown out. The case has taken a very unusual turn. I
was hoping for your opinion in this matter.”

Harding pointed to the soft couch for Gary to sit in but took
a hardbacked chair himself. He placed the tips of his fingers
together and listened closely as Gary explained in detail what
he and Judy had learned about Milligan, and about the forth-
coming meeting on Sunday at the Franklin County Jail.

Harding nodded thoughtfully, and when he spoke, he chose
his words very carefully. “I certainly do respect Stella Karolin
and Dorothy Turner.” He mused and stared at the ceiling.
“Turner does part-time testing for us, and she has already
talked to me about the case. Now, since Dr. Wilbur will be
there . . .” He stared at the floor between the steeple of his
fingers. “I don’t see any reason why I might not be able to
attend. Sunday, you say?”

Gary nodded, not daring to speak.

“Well, I must tell you, Mr. Schweickart. I have grave reser-
vations about the syndrome known as multiple personality.
Although Dr. Cornelia Wilbur did give a lecture at Harding
Hospital about Sybil in the summer of 1975, I'm not sure I
really believe it. With all due respect to her and other psychia-

trists who have worked with such people . . . Well, in a case
like this, it's too obviously possible for the patient to feign
amnesia. Still, if Tarner and Karolin will be there . . . and if

Dr. Wilbur is making the trip . . .”

He stood up. “I make no commitment for myself or on
behalf of the hospital. But I shall be pleased to attend the
meeting.”

As soon as Gary got home, he called Judy. “Hey, Coun-
selor,” he said with a laugh. “Harding’s involved.”
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On Saturday, March 11, Judy went to the Franklin County Jail
to tell Milligan that the plans had been changed, and that Dr.
Comnelia Wilbur wouldn’t be there until the next day.

“I should have told you yesterday,” she said. “I'm sorry.”

He began to tremble violently. By his expression, she real-
ized she was talking to Danny.

“Dorothy Turner isn’t coming back, is she?”

“Of course she is, Danny. What makes you think such a
thing?”

“People make promises and then they forget. Don't leave
me alone.”

“I won't. But you've got to get hold of yourself. Dr. Wilbur
will be here tomorrow, and so will Stella Karolin and Dorothy
Turner and me . . . and a few other people.”

His eyes opened wide. “Other people?”

“There’s another doctor—George Harding, from Harding
Hospital. And the prosecutor, Bernie Yavitch.”

“Men?-gasped Danny, shaking so hard his teeth began to
chatter.

“It’s essential for your defense,” she said. “But Gary and I
will be there too. Look, I think we should get you some
medication to calm you down.”

Danny nodded.

She called the guard and asked to have her client placed in a
holding room while she went up for a medic. When they
returned a few minutes later, Milligan was cowering in the far
comner of the room, his face covered with blood, his nose
bleeding. He had smashed his head against the wall.

He looked at her blankly, and she realized it was no longer
Danny. It was the keeper of the pain. “David?” she asked.

He nodded. “It hurts, Miss Judy. It hurts bad. I don’t want
to live anymore.”

She pulled him toward her and cradled him in her arms.

“You mustn't say that, David. You have a lot to live for. A lot of
people believe in you, and you're going to get help.”
“I'm afraid of going to prison.
“They’re not going to send you to prison. We're going to
fight it, David.”
“1 didn’t do nothing bad.”
“I know, David. I believe you.”
“When is Dorothy Turner coming back to see me?”
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“I told . . .” And then she realized it was Danny she had
told. “Tomorrow, David. With another psychiatrist by the
name of Dr. Wilbur.” ’

“You're not going to tell her the secret, are you?”

She shook her head. “No, David. In Dr. Wilbur's case, I'm
sure we won't have to.”

(7)

March 12 was a bright, cold Sunday morning. Bernie Yavitch
stepped out of his car and went into the Franklin County Jail,
feeling very strange about it all. It would be the first time, as a
prosecutor, that he had ever been present while the defendant
was being examined by psychiatrists. He had gone through the
report from Southwest and over the police reports again and
again, but he had no idea what to expect.

He just couldn’t believe that all these eminent doctors were
taking the multiple personality thing seriously. Cornelia
Wilbur coming down to examine Milligan didn’t impress him.
She believed in it, and she'd be looking for it. It was Dr.
George Harding’s face he had to watch. As far as Yavitch was
concerned, there was no more highly respected psychiatrist in
the state of Ohio. He knew no one would pull anything on Dr.
Harding. Many of the leading prosecutors, who had little or no
respect for psychiatrists testifying in insanity cases, said the
one exception would be George Harding, Jr.

After a while the others arrived, and they arranged to have
the interview in the lower-level sheriff' s squad room, a large
room with folding chairs, blackboards and a desk where the
officers gathered at shift change.

Yavitch greeted Dr. Stella Karolin and Sheila Karolin and
Sheila Porter, the social worker from Southwest, and was
introduced to Drs. Wilbur and Harding.

Then the door opened, and he saw Billy Milligan for the first
time. Judy Stevenson walked beside him, holding his hand.
Dorothy Turner walked in front, Gary walked behind. They
entered the squad room, and Milligan, seeing the crowd of
people, hesitated.

Dorothy Turner introduced them one by one and then led
him to the seat closest to Cornelia Wilbur “Dr. Wilbug”
Dorothy said in a low voice, “this is Danny.”

“Hello, Danny,” Wilbur said. “I'm glad to meet you. How
are you feeling?”
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“All right,” he said, clinging to Dorothy’s arm.

“I know it must make you nervous to be in the room with a
lot of strangers, but we're here to help you,” Wilbur said.

They took their seats and Schweickart leaned over and
whispered to Yavitch, “When you see this, if you still don’t
believe it, I'll turn my license in.”

As Wilbur started to question Milligan, Yavitch relaxed. She
looked to him like an attractive, energetic mother with bright-
red hair and bright-red lipstick. Danny answered her ques-
tions and told her about Arthur and Ragen and Allen.

She turned to Yavitch. “You see? It’s typical of multiple
personalities that he’s willing to speak of what happened to the
others, but not about what happened to him.”

After a few more questions and answers, she turned to Dr.
George Harding. “This is a clear example of the dissociative
state of the hysterical neurotic.”

Danny looked at Judy and said, “She left her spot.”

Judy smiled and whispered, “No, Danny. It’s not like that
with her.”

“She must have a lot of people inside her,” Danny insisted.
“She talks to me one way, and then she changes and starts
using all those big words like Arthur does.”

“I wish Judge Flowers were here to see this,” Wilbur said.
“I know what’s going on inside this young man. I know what he
really needs.”

Danny’s head snapped around, glaring at Dorothy Turmer
ac]ccixsingly‘ “You told her! You promised you wouldn’t, but you
told.”

“No, Danny,” Turner said. “I didn’t. Dr. Wilbur knows
what's wrong because she knows other people like you.”

In a firm but soft voice, Cornelia Wilbur put Danny at ease.
She looked into his eyes and told him to relax. She held her
left hand up to her forehead, and her diamond ring glinted and
reflected in his eyes.

“You are totally relaxed and feeling good now, Danny. Noth-
ing is bothering you. Relax. Whatever you feel like doing or
saying is all right. Anything you want.”

“I want to leave,” Danny said. “I want to get off the spot.”

“Whatever you want to do is all right with us, Danny. Il tell
you what. When you leave, I'd like to talk to Billy. The Billy
who was born with that name.”
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